

**OFFICIAL BY-LAWS OF THE
ATV CLUB OF EASTERN ONTARIO INC. /
CLUB DE VTT DE L'EST ONTARIO INC.**

Article I Purpose and Name

- Section 1. The name of the Club shall be "ATV Club of Eastern Ontario Inc. / Club de VTT de l'Est Ontario Inc." (referred to as the Club).
- Section 2. The purpose of the "ATV Club of Eastern Ontario Inc. / Club de VTT de l'Est Ontario Inc." is to stimulate and advance the general welfare and safety of ATV / SxS & UTV (referred to as ATV) riding; to serve the interests of ATV owners and riders; to defend such owners and riders against discriminatory legislation, regulations and to develop a fraternal spirit among local ATV and other sport enthusiasts; to provide a medium for the exchange of ATV information; to own, obtain designated By-Laws or lease property for the use of the Club and to perform all desirable and lawful functions for the successful operation of the Club and in the General Public interest.

Article II Membership

- Section 1. Membership in the Club may consist of the following classes:
- a. Member(s)
 - b. Associate member(s)
 - c. Advisory member(s)
- Section 2. Membership is available to all ATV owners in Eastern Ontario, part of District 1 (East) as defined by the Ontario Federation of All Terrain Vehicle Clubs (OFATV). District 1 (East) currently includes the following counties in Eastern Ontario:
- Prescott and Russell, (UCPR)
 - Stormont Dundas and Glengarry, (SDG)
 - Part of ex-Ottawa Carleton (east of the 416 provincial highway).

Geographically, the outer boundaries can be summarily described as follows: the Ottawa River as the north, the province of Québec as the east, the St-Lawrence River as the south and the 416 provincial highway as the west.

- a) Member: means a person who is named on the OFATV permit, has paid the required permit fee, and has selected ATVCEO / CVTTEO as their Club of choice. There can be only one member per ATV, that being the person named on the ATV permit and which permit is still valid.
- b) Associate member: means a person who is not a member but who provides purposeful, frequent, and significant volunteer assistance through support and / or work in the operation of the Club. At its own discretion, the Board of Directors (Board) may name a person as an associate member or name a candidate following a request submitted by a Club member. This

position will not be entitled to a vote.

- c) Advisory member: means a person who may or may not be an active member or a member who has completed their term as a Director and would be a benefit to the club's activities. The new candidate or former member may be nominated to the Board in an advisory capacity in order to provide continuity of the former duties and responsibilities to their successor. If the person is a nonmember, the position will be valid for a period of not more than one (1) year unless renewed by the Board. This position will not be entitled to a vote.

Section 3. All members are entitled to one vote for each motion calling for a vote at the annual general meeting (AGM). However, to vote, the member needs to be attending in person at the AGM.

Section 4. The Board of Directors (Board) may establish the qualifications and rights of associate members.

Section 5. A Director or Associate member may resign from the Board at any time, preferably by providing written notice to the Secretary of the Board. All associated duties, positions, or authority the member may have held shall be terminated and any items belonging to the club shall be returned at the time of resignation.

Section 6. A Member's termination of their ATVCEO membership shall not release said members from the obligation to return any items (tools, equipment, vest) that are property of the club. This also entails the relinquishment of any roles or duties they may have held.

Article III Management

The management of the Club shall be voted in by the Board as follows:

Article IV Board of Directors

Section 1. The Board of Directors shall consist of Directors, each of whom shall be a member of the Club and may comprise up to 15 directors. Directors shall be elected at the AGM and shall take office at the close of the AGM. There are no limits as to the number of successive terms an incumbent director may be elected to serve. Ideally, each Director should have a specific task and title. Any Director who misses a minimum of three (3) consecutive meetings, without notification or credible reason may be considered to have resigned from the Board, subject to confirmation by the said Board. However, election at the AGM does not come into force unless the elected director signs in a timely fashion the director's consent as required by *Section 24(8) of the Not-for-Profit Corporations Act of Ontario (ONCA)*.

Section 2. If vacancies on the Board should occur by reason of death, resignation or otherwise, the remaining Directors may, at their option and by majority vote, elect a successor for each unexpired term and position.

Section 3. A majority of the members of the Board shall constitute a quorum for the transactions of the Club's business. A quorum for any board meeting shall require at least 4 directors, two of which must be from the Executive (ref Article V). Each director's vote counts as one, including the President's vote, at board meetings. The simple majority of the vote determines whether a motion is adopted or rejected; when there is equality in the votes, then the motion is to be carried to the next board meeting for another vote.

Section 4. Meetings of the Board shall be held at such time and place as may be fixed from time to time by resolution of the Board or by call of the President. The Board shall hold its regular meeting as stated in Article VIII, section 2.

Section 5. The Board, at its discretion and by affirmative vote, may appoint Club committees, fill any vacancies, or change the membership in Club committees. The Board may, by resolution, delegate such authority to the Club President. The Board of Directors shall have the power at any time to abolish any committee.

Section 6. The Board may employ whatever personnel it deems necessary, and for which funds are available, to aid in the management and programs of the Club and may authorize the expenditure of Club's funds in any other manner provided such actions are in the proper furtherance of the purpose of the Club.

Article V The Executive

Section 1. The Executive officers of the Club shall be the President, Vice President, Secretary and Treasurer. The same person may hold the office of Secretary and Treasurer, the position of Treasurer can also be held by the Secretary.

Section 2. The Executive officers shall be elected from the membership of the Board by plurality vote of the Directors following their nomination to the Board at their regular annual general meeting. The Board may fill vacancies occurring between such elections for the unexpired term at any Board meeting. Any Executive may be removed from office by the affirmative voice of two thirds of the whole Board.

Section 3. The Executive shall take office immediately upon election. All members of the Executive: President, Vice President, Secretary and Treasurer will hold office for a two (2) year period and may hold office for successive terms or until their successor is elected.

Section 4. The President shall preside at all Board meetings of the Club and shall oversee and coordinate such committees as are authorized by the Board. The President shall be a member Ex-officio of all such committees and shall carry on those other responsibilities assigned to them by the by-laws and by the Board.

Section 5. The Vice President during the absence or temporary incapacity of the President shall perform the duties and have the powers of the President.

Section 6. The Secretary shall keep all Club's records, except financial records, including minutes of meetings, roster of members, which is currently maintained by the OFATV under a system commonly known as the "membership system", lists of committees and their members. The Secretary also sends out notices of meetings, receives applications for membership, and discharges all of the usual secretarial functions of the office required herein or by the Board. The Secretary shall also maintain a permanent mailing address, preferably by street address as opposed to a local post office box, for the Club and direct incoming correspondence to the appropriate Club official.

Section 7. The Treasurer shall keep all financial records of the Club and have charge of its funds. The Treasurer shall keep the Club's funds in a Financial Institution approved by the Board and in the name of the Club. The Treasurer shall disburse such funds of the Club under the direction of the Board. Withdrawals shall be made by cheques signed in such a manner as approved by the Board, which currently requires two signatories of which; the Treasurer must be one of the signatories with the other signatory being either the President or the Vice-President.

Section 8. The Treasurer shall prepare an annual report to be submitted, in conjunction with the Club's annual financial statements prepared under relevant Canadian generally accepted accounting principles. The Board will then be required to approve the annual financial statements before tabling them at the Club's AGM.

Section 9. All Executive members shall have such other powers and duties as law requires.

Article VI Membership Fees (Trail Permit)

The annual membership fees, as well as the time for their payment shall be determined by the OFATV and are currently payable at the time of purchasing a permit. Fees are determined yearly at the OFATV's AGM. The portion of the membership fees coming back to the Club is decided at the OFATV's AGM, ratified by attending Club delegates.

Article VII Fiscal Year

The fiscal year of the Club shall commence on the first day of January and end on the thirty-first day of December.

Article VIII Meetings

Section 1. The Club's AGM of the members shall be held at the time and place designated by the Board. However, the AGM should be held not later than 15 months after holding the preceding AGM.

Section 2. Regular meetings of the Board of the Club shall be held monthly, the second Wednesday of the month at the time and place fixed by resolution at the previous meeting or as designated by the President or by the Board. Any member and associate member may attend any such meeting.

Section 3 Postings will be on the Club's Website and other forms of acceptable Social Media of the time and place of all meetings (AGM, monthly and all other ones) and shall constitute written notices to the membership. Regarding the AGM, the posting on the Club's Website should be a minimum of 7 days prior to the AGM.

Section 4. Special meetings of the Club may be called by the Board, by the President or by any group of five (5) members by giving adequate written notice of the time, place, and purpose of such special meetings.

Section 5. Members in attendance at such a special meeting make the quorum. Any formal action taken at any special meeting of the membership shall require a majority vote of those members present. Any formal motions shall be presented and voted upon at the next Board Meeting.

Article IX Amendments

These By-Laws should be reviewed on an as needed basis or at least once every five (5) years. Any amendments to these by-laws will only need to be approved by the Board. Any future amendment to these by-laws will be submitted for approval by the affirmative vote of a majority of the Board of the Club at the (AGM), or as required and in such other form as may be approved by the Board of Directors.

This document supersedes all previous versions.

Approved by ATVCEO / CVTTEO Board of Directors,

Signed: ,

President

Date: April 10 2024

Signed: ,

Secretary

Date: 2024-04-10

Original prepared, reviewed and approved by the Board of Directors:
August 16, 2006

Updated - August 2008
Updated - November 2011
Updated - November 2017
Updated - April 2024